
SUBJECT TO DRB APPROVAL 

1 
 

Town of St. Albans 
Development Review Board Meeting Minutes 
Thursday, December 10th, 2015 
6:30 p.m. 
 
On Thursday, December 10th, 2015 at 6:30 p.m., the Town of St. Albans Development Review Board met 
at Town Hall for hearings.   
  
Present: Chair, Brent Brigham, Vice Chair, Jeff Jewett, Clerk, Bruce Thompson, Mike McKennerney, 
Arthur Omartian, Tom Stanhope, Karen Drennen and Zoning Administrator, Becky Perron  
 
Absent:  
 
Chair, B. Brigham called the Development Review Board meeting to order at 6:30 p.m. 
 
New Business: 
 
Application of Franklin County Animal Rescue requesting Conditional Use Approval and Site Plan 
Amendment to provide adoption and spay/neuter services in accordance with Sections 303, 313, 
305(3) and 315(6) of the St. Albans Town Zoning Bylaws and Subdivision Regulations.  The 
property is located at 141 Fairfax Road in the Commercial/Residential District within a Designated 
Growth Center and owned by Ficociello Real Estate #2, LLC. 
 
This application was represented by Jane Ryan and Paul Martin. Allie Sisco, abutting property owner, 
requested interested party status.  
 
MOTION: B. Thompson made a motion to grant Allie Sisco, abutting property owner, Interested Party 
Status. T. Stanhope seconded. All in favor, none opposed, motion carried. 
 
The applicants and interested party were sworn in by Clerk, B. Thompson.  
 
J. Ryan explained that Franklin County Animal Rescue (FCAR) was proposing to open a second facility 
in the current Yankee Medical Building located at 141 Fairfax Road. The proposed facility will only 
home adoptable cats; the low-cost spay and neuter clinic would be run from this location as well. The 
current FCAR building located on Sunset Meadows has been outgrown; it homes all the animals, 
regardless of their situation; (dogs and cats, sick and well). The current building does not have an 
administrative office space and the current cat room is very small.  
 
P. Martin agreed there was a crucial need for more space. He explained that part of FCAR’s mission was 
educating the public on the importance of spaying and neutering and there wasn’t space to do so at the 
current building. The proposed building would serve as a holding spot for the healthy, adoptable cats, be a 
larger space for the low-cost spay and neuter clinic for dogs and cats and hold the administrative offices 
for the two locations.  He explained that the spay-neuter clinic is backed up for weeks at a time; the 
community has a huge need for low-cost spaying and neutering services. The proposed building would 
allow for another vet table. He also mentioned that cats can get an upper respiratory virus that is very 
contagious to other cats. Another benefit of having a second location is segregating the healthy, adoptable 
cats from the sick ones.   
 
B. Brigham asked if the spay and neuter clinic was for dogs and cats. P. Martin confirmed it was, but spay 
and neuter patients do not stay overnight. The animals are sedated almost immediately after they are 
checked in.  
 
B. Thompson inquired if there would be a kennel or fenced in space outside. J. Ryan explained there 
would be no changes to the outside of the building. The only changes being made to the inside of the 
building was the addition of one wall to divide the “cat room” from the administrative office. It was noted 
that a vestibule will be attached to the cat room to prevent cats from escaping into the lobby.  
 
K. Drennen wondered if FCAR would be renting the building. P. Martin stated FCAR was under contract 
to purchase the property.  
 
K. Drennen asked if there were any drugs held on site. J. Ryan stated there were sedatives and anesthesia 
on site which would be under watch of the licensed vet as well as two vet assistants.   
 
A. Omartian asked what the anticipated traffic from potential adopters and clinic patients would look like. 
The FCAR staff estimated between five and nine cars at once but anticipated less since five to nine cars is 
the traffic pattern at the Sunset Meadow location which adopts both dogs and cats. J. Ryan stated that all 
spay/neuter appointments are scheduled and staggered so the pet owner would drop the animal off and 
return at some point during the day. P. Martin added that three to four employees would be there daily 



SUBJECT TO DRB APPROVAL 

2 
 

and a vet and vet assistant would be there three days a week. It was also mentioned that the parking plan 
presented to the Board was incorrect; there would be more parking than what was shown. The plan shows 
four parking spots with one handicap spot in the front but there are actually nine parking spots with two 
handicap spots. There are six parking spaces on the side of the building for staff parking. A loading and 
unloading zone is also striped but will not be utilized as all deliveries will still go to the Sunset Meadow 
location.  
 
B. Thompson wondered how many cats were currently at the Sunset Meadow location. P. Martin 
estimated around one hundred cats and kittens but stated only fifty or sixty were currently adoptable and 
those are the cats that will be transported to the proposed location.   
 
B. Thompson inquired what the hours would be. P. Martin confirmed the shelter would be open from 
11:00 a.m. to 4:00 p.m. Tuesday through Saturday and would be closed to the public Sunday and 
Monday, but two staff members would be there those days.  
 
J. Jewett wondered what you do with the litter of fifty cats. J. Ryan stated the dumpster would be used 
outdoors, on the delivery side of the building. J. Jewett wondered if the dumpster required a special liner. 
P. Martin stated the litter is dumped into a bag and then tied into another bag. He stated it is a large 
amount of litter but not when compared to the waste product at the Sunset Meadow location as that 
facility homes dogs and cats.  
 
B. Brigham asked if the location utilized City water and sewer. J. Ryan stated the facility had a well right 
now which was engineer certified to be enough water for the use of the facility.  
 
J. Jewett asked if the outside lighting would be changed. J. Ryan that it was already adequately lit and no 
further lighting was necessary. She reiterated there would be no changes to the outside of the facility at 
all. She also mentioned the sign frame already existed and would be utilized.   
 
M. Mckennerney asked if a person would be present overnight and what steps would be taken for 
security. P. Martin stated there would not be a person present overnight and there was an existing security 
system at the facility that would be utilized.  
 
The Board asked Interested Party, Allie Sisco, if she had any questions or concerns. A. Sisco expressed 
concern that animals would be hit by traffic, especially because animals are very nervous at the vet office 
and around traffic. She mentioned that her parents (who had lived in the same house) had several animals 
hit in the road. Another concern was Thomas, the other person in the house who A. Sisco has legal 
guardianship of. Thomas has developmental delays and is obsessed with animals. A. Sisco was concerned 
she would have a difficult time keeping Thomas away from the animals and it would create a hardship. A 
further concern for A. Sisco was the traffic coming and going. When the building was Yankee Medical 
there were only a few cars there a day, and the business was closed nights and weekends. A business that 
helped seniors and the community should be run out of the proposed FCAR building. She explained the 
proposed FCAR building was not a good fit for the area. A. Sisco was also concerned with the large 
volume of waste the animals would expel; she was concerned her artesian well could become 
contaminated somehow. Lastly, A. Sisco stated she had friends that lived next to the Sunset Meadow 
location and they told her the animals were noisy.  
 
B. Thompson asked how often the litter would be dumped. P. Martin reminded the Board that the Sunset 
Meadow location is in a residential area and there had never been a complaint about the smell.  
 
J. Ryan disagreed with A. Sisco stating the FCAR building would be a great fit for the area. Sometimes, 
cats are transported to local nursing homes to visit with the senior citizens which seniors could benefit 
from more with the building being across the road. 
 
Application of Michael Sullivan & Joseph Sullivan requesting a 401 Waiver to waive the road 
frontage requirements for no more than two single family homes in accordance with Sections 
315(5&6) and 401 of the St. Albans Town Zoning Bylaws and Subdivision Regulations.  The 
property is located at McGinn Drive 178 NW of School in the Commercial/Residential and 
Residential Districts and owned by the Applicants. 
 
Mike McGinn represented this application on behalf of his grandsons, Michael & Joseph Sullivan. He 
was sworn in by Clerk, Bruce Thompson.  
 
B. Thompson asked M. McGinn to explain where the parcel was. M. McGinn stated that the parcel was 
before Project Soar (Northwestern Counseling & Support Services), on the left. B. Thompson asked M. 
McGinn to explain his intentions to the board.  
 
M. McGinn stated that his grandsons had received the parcel as part of their mother’s estate. They were 
proposing to turn the parcel into residential building lots and had obtained wastewater permits. The parcel 



SUBJECT TO DRB APPROVAL 

3 
 

is roughly ten acres with a twenty foot strip of land off McGinn Drive which was reserved as a right of 
way. The twenty foot right of way turns into a fifty foot wide easement through “lot 3”. The two lots will 
be accessed with a shared fourteen foot driveway. The driveway included a hammerhead turn-around area 
as per Fire Chief Bobby Cross.  
 
K. Drennen asked if there were currently any structures on the lots. M. McGinn stated the lots are vacant. 
 
B. Brigham wondered if the parcel previously had a forty foot easement from Northwestern Counseling & 
Support Services (Project Soar). M. McGinn confirmed a forty foot easement was granted in 2007 but 
they had chosen to go a different route.  
 
B. Thompson inquired if there would be development by wetlands. M. McGinn stated that an engineer 
had certified there were no wetlands within the path of development.  
  
J. Jewett asked Zoning Administrator, B. Perron why this application needed to appear before the Board. 
B. Perron stated one lot was being divided into two lots with no road frontage on a maintained public road 
which required a waiver.  
 
J. Jewett inquired at which point a parcel would require a sixty foot right of way. B. Perron stated a sixty 
foot right of way would be required when the road was serving three or more houses.  
 
B. Perron pointed out the lots are labeled as “lot 2” and “lot 3”, despite the fact there are only two 
proposed lots. The Board agreed the lots should be re-labeled for clarity.  
 
B. Brigham wondered if the power would be overhead. M. McGinn stated the power would be overhead 
from poles 1 and 2 and would switch to underground power between poles 2 and 3.  
 
Deliberative Session 
 
MOTION: K. Drennen made a motion to enter deliberative session at 7:15 p.m. T. Stanhope seconded. 
All in favor, none opposed, motion carried. 
 
Application of Franklin County Animal Rescue requesting Conditional Use Approval and Site Plan 
Amendment 
 
MOTION: made a motion to approve the Application of Franklin County Animal Rescue requesting 
Conditional Use Approval and Site Plan Amendment to provide adoption and spay/neuter services in 
accordance with Sections 303, 313, 305(3) and 315(6) of the St. Albans Town Zoning Bylaws and 
Subdivision Regulations.  The property is located at 141 Fairfax Road in the Commercial/Residential 
District within a Designated Growth Center and owned by Ficociello Real Estate #2, LLC with the 
following conditions: to accept the proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law listed in the 
Zoning Administrator’s staff report dated October 12th, 2015. J. Jewett seconded the motion. All in 
favor, none opposed, motion carried.  
 
Application of Michael Sullivan & Joseph Sullivan requesting a 401 Waiver to waive the road frontage 
requirements 
 
MOTION: made a motion to approve the Application of Michael Sullivan & Joseph Sullivan 
requesting a 401 Waiver to waive the road frontage requirements for no more than two single family 
homes in accordance with Sections 315(5&6) and 417 of the St. Albans Town Zoning Bylaws and 
Subdivision Regulations.  The property is located at McGinn Drive 178 NW of School in the 
Commercial/Residential and Residential Districts and owned by the Applicants with the following 
conditions: to accept the proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law listed in the Zoning 
Administrator’s staff report dated October 12th, 2015. J. Jewett seconded the motion. All in favor, none 
opposed, motion carried.  
 
Minutes 
 
MOTION: made a motion to accept the minutes from the DRB meetings dated October 29th, 2015. 
seconded. All in favor, none opposed, motion carried. 
 
Adjournment 
 
MOTION: made a motion to adjourn the DRB meeting at  p.m.  M. McKennerney seconded. All in 
favor, none opposed, motion carried. 
 
 



SUBJECT TO DRB APPROVAL 

4 
 

Respectfully Submitted, 
AJ Johnson, Administrative Assistant  
 
 
 
 
___________________________________  __________________________________ 
Brent Brigham, Chair                                                    Jeff Jewett, Vice Chair 
 
 
            
Bruce Thompson, Clerk               Arthur Omartian 
 
 
____________________________________ ___________________________________ 
Karen Drennen                    Mike McKennerney 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
Tom Stanhope 


